

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism (Review)

Middeldorp S, Prins MH, Hutten BA

Middeldorp S, Prins MH, Hutten BA. Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD001367. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001367.pub3.

www.cochranelibrary.com

Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. WILEY



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
BACKGROUND
OBJECTIVES
METHODS
RESULTS
Figure 1.
Figure 2.
Figure 3.
DISCUSSION
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES
DATA AND ANALYSES
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 2 Incidence of major bleeding.
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 3 Mortality.
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up, Outcome 2 Incidence of major bleeding.
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up, Outcome 3 Mortality.
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.
Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication, Outcome 2 Incidence of major bleeding.
Analysis 3.3. Comparison 3 Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication, Outcome 3 Mortality
Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 One month vs 3 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.
Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Three months vs 6 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.
Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Three months vs 12 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.
APPENDICES
FEEDBACK
WHAT'S NEW
HISTORY
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
SOURCES OF SUPPORT
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW
INDEX TERMS

[Intervention Review]

Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism

Saskia Middeldorp¹, Martin H Prins², Barbara A Hutten³

¹Department of Vascular Medicine, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands. ²Department of Epidemiology, CAPHRI Research School, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands. ³Department of Clinical Epidemiology & Biostatistics, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Contact: Barbara A Hutten, Department of Clinical Epidemiology & Biostatistics, Academic Medical Center, Meibergdreef 9, Amsterdam, 1105 AZ, Netherlands. b.a.hutten@amc.uva.nl.

Editorial group: Cochrane Vascular Group. **Publication status and date:** New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 8, 2014.

Citation: Middeldorp S, Prins MH, Hutten BA. Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD001367. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001367.pub3.

Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Currently, the most frequently used secondary treatment for patients with venous thromboembolism (VTE) consists of vitamin K antagonists (VKA) targeted at an international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.5 (range 2.0 to 3.0). However, based on the continuing risk of bleeding and uncertainty regarding the risk of recurrent VTE, discussion on the proper duration of treatment with VKA for these patients is ongoing. Several studies have compared the risks and benefits of different durations of VKA in patients with VTE. This is the third update of a review first published in 2000.

Objectives

To evaluate the efficacy and safety of different durations of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in patients with symptomatic venous thromboembolism.

Search methods

For this update, the Cochrane Peripheral Vascular Diseases Group Trials Search Co-ordinator searched the Specialised Register (last searched October 2013) and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) 2013, Issue 9.

Selection criteria

Randomized controlled clinical trials comparing different durations of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in patients with symptomatic venous thromboembolism.

Data collection and analysis

Three review authors (SM, MP, and BH) extracted the data and assessed the quality of the trials independently.

Main results

Eleven studies with a total of 3716 participants were included. A consistent and strong reduction in the risk of recurrent venous thromboembolic events was observed during prolonged treatment with VKA (risk ratio (RR) 0.20, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.11 to 0.38) independent of the period elapsed since the index thrombotic event. A statistically significant "rebound" phenomenon (ie, an excess of recurrences shortly after cessation of prolonged treatment) was not found (RR 1.28, 95% CI 0.97 to 1.70). In addition, a substantial increase in bleeding complications was observed for patients receiving prolonged treatment during the entire period after randomization (RR 2.60, 95% CI 1.51 to 4.49). No reduction in mortality was noted during the entire study period (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.66 to 1.21, P = 0.46).



Authors' conclusions

In conclusion, this review shows that treatment with VKA strongly reduces the risk of recurrent VTE for as long as they are used. However, the absolute risk of recurrent VTE declines over time, although the risk for major bleeding remains. Thus, the efficacy of VKA administration decreases over time since the index event.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Length of treatment with vitamin K antagonists and prevention of recurrence in patients with venous thromboembolism

Venous thromboembolism (VTE) occurs when a blood clot is formed in a deep vein, or when it detaches itself and lodges in the lung vessels. These clots can be fatal if blood flow to the heart is blocked. Vitamin K antagonists (VKA) are given to people who have experienced a VTE, to prevent recurrence. The major complication of this treatment is bleeding. The continuing risk of bleeding with drug use and uncertainty regarding the extent of the risk of recurrence make it important to look at the proper duration of treatment with VKA for these patients. The review authors searched the literature and were able to combine data from 11 randomized controlled clinical trials (3716 participants) comparing different durations of treatment with VKA in patients with a symptomatic VTE. Participants receiving prolonged treatment had around five times lower risk of recurrence of VTE. On the other hand, they had about three times higher risk of bleeding complications. Prolonged treatment did not reduce the risk of death. Prolonged use of VKA strongly reduced the risk of recurrent clots as long as they were used, but benefit decreased over time and the risk of major bleeding remained.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings for the main comparison. Long-term or short-term treatment with vitamin K antagonists for patients with venous thromboembolism

Long-term or short-term treatment with vitamin K antagonists for patients with venous thromboembolism

Patient or population: patients with venous thromboembolism

Settings: hospitals and medical centers

Intervention: long-term treatment with VKA

Comparison: short-term treatment with VKA

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI) Assumed risk Corresponding risk		Relative effect (95% CI)	No. of partici- pants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
	Short-term treatment with VKA	Long-term treatment with VKA				
Incidence of re- current VTE	88 per 1000	18 per 1000 (10 to 33)	RR 0.2 (0.11 to 0.38)	3536 (10 studies)	⊕⊕⊕⊕ high	
Incidence of ma- jor bleeding	4 per 1000	15 per 1000 (5 to 43)	RR 3.44 (1.22 to 9.74)	1350 (6 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$ moderate 1	
Mortality	38 per 1000	26 per 1000 (13 to 51)	RR 0.69 (0.35 to 1.34)	1049 (4 studies)	⊕⊕⊕⊝ moderate ²	

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (eg, the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% CI). **CI:** Confidence interval; **RR:** Risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence.

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate. Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

¹Relatively wide 95% confidence interval around the estimate.

²Only 4 studies (including 1 study without events) provided information on this outcome.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Venous thromboembolism (VTE), the collective term for deep venous thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE), is a disorder that is frequently encountered in medical practice, affecting two to three of every 1000 persons (general population) per year. Venous thromboembolism may occur after surgery, after trauma and immobilization, in cancer patients, during hormonal contraceptive use or pregnancy, and after delivery (provoked), but it also occurs in the absence of such clinical risk factors (unprovoked). Hereditary thrombophilic conditions such as antithrombin, protein C, and protein S deficiencies, as well as Factor V Leiden and prothrombin 20210A mutations, increase the risk for both provoked and unprovoked venous thromboembolic events.

Description of the intervention

The most important aim of treatment for patients with VTE is to prevent recurrence, including potentially fatal PE. Patients are usually treated with an initial course of heparin or low-molecularweight heparin (for approximately six days) associated with vitamin K antagonists (VKA) started simultaneously and continued for a period thereafter. This prolonged use of VKA has proven efficacy in comparison with placebo and low-dose heparin (Hull 1979; Lagerstedt 1985). The general consensus is that VKA should be targeted to prolongation of prothrombin time, compatible with an international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.0 to 3.0.

Why it is important to do this review

Based on the continuing risk of bleeding and uncertainty regarding the risk of recurrent VTE, discussion on the proper duration of oral anticoagulant treatment in patients with VTE is ongoing. Several studies have compared the risks and benefits of different durations of VKA treatment in patients with VTE.

Therefore we evaluated in this review the reduction in the incidence of recurrent VTE and the excess of major bleeding associated with different durations of VKA in patients with VTE.

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the efficacy and safety of different durations of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in patients with symptomatic venous thromboembolism.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Studies in which participants were randomly allocated to different durations of VKA. Studies were excluded if they were duplicate reports or preliminary reports of data later presented in full.

Types of participants

Studies were included if participants had symptomatic VTE. Studies were excluded if the trialists had not used accepted objective tests to confirm the diagnosis of DVT (eg, venography, ultrasonography) or PE (eg, high-probability ventilation-perfusion lung scan, pulmonary angiography).

Types of interventions

Studies were included if different durations of treatment with a VKA, such as warfarin and acenocoumarol, were compared. Studies were excluded if different target INR ranges were used in the treatment arms, or if continuous use of another anticoagulant or antiplatelet drug was reported.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

• Incidence of recurrent venous thromboembolism (DVT or PE).

Secondary outcomes

- Incidence of major bleeding.
- Mortality.

Studies were excluded if no data for thromboembolic events and bleeding were available, if outcome assessment was performed by assessors who were aware of study allocation, or if no breakdown was provided for minor and major bleeding.

The following criteria were accepted for the diagnosis of recurrent symptomatic DVT: an extension of an intraluminal filling defect on a venogram; a new intraluminal filling defect or an extension of nonvisualization of proximal veins in the presence of a sudden cutoff defect on a venogram that was seen on at least two projections; if no previous venogram was available for comparison, an intraluminal filling defect; if no venogram was available, abnormal results of compression ultrasonography in an area where compression had been normal, or a substantial increase in the diameter of the thrombus during full compression at the popliteal or femoral vein (Koopman 1996; Levine 1996); or, if neither a venogram nor an ultrasonographic study was available, a change in the results of impedance plethysmography from normal to abnormal.

The following criteria were accepted for the diagnosis of (recurrent) PE: a new intraluminal filling defect, an extension of an existing defect, or the sudden cutoff of vessels larger than 2.5 mm in diameter on a pulmonary angiogram; if no prior angiogram was available, an intraluminal filling defect or sudden cutoff of vessels larger than 2.5 mm in diameter on a pulmonary angiogram; or if no pulmonary angiogram was available, a defect of at least 75% of a segment on the perfusion scan, with normal ventilation. If the ventilation-perfusion scan was nondiagnostic (and no pulmonary angiogram was available), satisfaction on the criteria for DVT was acceptable, or PE could be demonstrated at autopsy.

Hemorrhages were classified as major if they were intracranial or retroperitoneal, led directly to death, necessitated transfusion, or led to interruption of antithrombotic treatment or (re)operation. All other hemorrhages were classified as nonmajor.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

For this update the Cochrane Peripheral Vascular Diseases Group Trials Search Co-ordinator (TSC) searched the Specialised Register (last searched October 2013) and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) 2013, Issue 9, part of *The Cochrane Library*, (www.thecochranelibrary.com). See Appendix 1 for details of the search strategy used to search CENTRAL. The



Specialised Register is maintained by the TSC and is constructed from weekly electronic searches of MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, AMED, and through handsearching relevant journals. The full list of the databases, journals and conference proceedings which have been searched, as well as the search strategies used are described in the Specialised Register section of the Cochrane Peripheral Vascular Diseases Group module in *The Cochrane Library* (www.thecochranelibrary.com).

Searching other resources

Additional studies were sought by a manual search through reference lists of relevant studies and through personal communication with experts in the field.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Evaluation of potentially eligible studies to confirm eligibility and to assess methodological quality was performed independently by the three review authors (SM, MP, BH). Disagreements were resolved by discussion, and consensus was reached.

Data extraction and management

Eligible articles were reviewed and summary information extracted. The following information was sought: participant characteristics (age, gender, comorbidity); number of participants in each treatment arm; duration, type, and intensity of VKA; incidence and timing of symptomatic recurrent VTE and major bleeding episodes; and mortality.

Data were extracted independently by the three review authors (SM, MP, BH), using a standard form. Disagreements were resolved by discussion, and consensus was reached.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

For this update, two review authors (SM, BH) independently assessed the risk of bias of each trial according to Higgins 2011 and based on the following domains: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding (participants, care providers, or outcome assessors), incomplete outcome data, and other bias. For each of the domains, we assessed whether the study was at high risk of bias, low risk of bias, or unclear risk of bias by using the guidance provided by Higgins 2011. Disagreements were resolved by discussion, and consensus was reached.

Measures of treatment effect

The incidence of recurrent VTE, major bleeding, and mortality for the different treatment arms was used to calculate a risk ratio (RR) separately for each trial. Our outcomes were dichotomous, and we expressed results as RRs with 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

Unit of analysis issues

The participant was the individual unit of analysis for all comparisons.

Dealing with missing data

We analyzed available data (ie, while ignoring missing data).

Assessment of heterogeneity

Heterogeneity of study results was evaluated using the Chi² test and I² statistic for each outcome separately. When the probability value of the Chi² test was < 0.10 and/or the I² statistic was > 40%, heterogeneity was considered significant.

Assessment of reporting biases

To assess the risk of bias from selective reporting of outcomes, we searched in clinicaltrials.gov and controlled-trials.com for a study protocol of each trial. If a study protocol was available, we evaluated whether all of the study's prespecified outcomes of interest in our review had been reported in the prespecified way in the final publication.

Data synthesis

All data were analyzed by using the Review Manager software of The Cochrane Collaboration (RevMan 2012). The incidence of recurrent VTE, major bleeding, and mortality for the different treatment arms was used to calculate an RR separately for each trial. These RRs were combined across studies, giving weight to the number of events in each of the two treatment groups in each separate study, using the Mantel-Haenszel procedure, which assumes a fixed treatment effect (Collins 1987; Mantel 1959; Yusuf 1985).

The advisability of combining the trials was addressed by performing a statistical test of heterogeneity, which considers whether differences in treatment effect over individual trials are consistent with natural variation around a constant effect (Collins 1987). In addition, qualitative assessment of heterogeneity was performed if indicated. When the probability value of the Chi² test was < 0.10 and/or l² was > 40%, heterogeneity was considered significant. In cases of significant heterogeneity, data from the studies were combined using a random-effects model according to the method of DerSimonian and Laird. A Z-test was observed, studies were combined by using a fixed-effect model.

Analyses were performed separately for:

- the period from VKA cessation in the shorter duration arm until VKA cessation in the longer duration arm;
- the period after cessation of study medication until the end of follow-up;
- the entire period after randomization reported in the publication;
- if available in more than one study, comparisons of two specific durations (eg, six weeks vs six months) of VKA use;
- studies with adequately concealed randomization; and
- studies without missing values.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

If we identified substantial heterogeneity (ie, $l^2 > 60\%$), we performed subgroup analyses to explore heterogeneity.

Sensitivity analysis

To determine whether conclusions were robust to decisions made during the review process, we performed analyses separately for studies with adequate randomization and for studies in which none of the participants dropped out or were lost-to-follow up, for the



period from cessation of treatment with VKA in the short duration arm until cessation of treatment in the long duration arm.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

See Figure 1.



Figure 1. Study flow diagram.



Included studies

Three additional studies were included in this update (Eischer 2009; Ridker 2003; Siragusa 2008), making a total of 11 included studies (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Eischer 2009; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997; Siragusa 2008), which were published between 1995 and 2009 with a total of 3716 participants. In seven studies (Agnelli 2001, Agnelli 2003, Eischer 2009, Kearon 1999, Kearon 2004, Schulman 1995, Siragusa 2008), participants with a first episode of VTE (ie, DVT,PE, or both) were included. Of these studies, Eischer 2009 included only participants with levels of FVIII above 230 IU/dL, and Siragusa 2008 included participants with residual vein thrombosis. In the study of Schulman 1997, participants with a second episode of VTE were included, and in the other two studies (Levine 1995; Pinede 2001), participants with acute proximal DVT were included. For the study of Ridker 2003, it was unclear whether participants with a first or second episode of VTE were included. In all studies, objective diagnostic tests were used to confirm the diagnosis.

The 11 studies compared the following different periods of treatment with VKA: four weeks versus three months (Kearon 2004; Levine 1995), six weeks versus 12 weeks (Pinede 2001), six weeks versus six months (Schulman 1995), three months versus six months (Agnelli 2003, Pinede 2001), three months versus one year (Agnelli 2001; Siragusa 2008), three months versus 27 months (Kearon 1999), four months versus 27 months (Ridker 2003), six months versus 30 months (Eischer 2009), and six months versus

four years (Schulman 1997). For details of these studies, see the Characteristics of included studies section.

Excluded studies

For this update, seven additional studies were excluded (Agrawal 2011; Ascani 1999; Campbell 2007; Farraj 2004; Ferrara 2006; Palareti 2006; Prandoni 2009), making a total of 14 excluded studies (Agrawal 2011; Ascani 1999; Campbell 2007; Drouet 2003; Farraj 2004; Fennerty 1987; Ferrara 2006; Holmgren 1985; Lagerstedt 1985; O'Sullivan 1972; Palareti 2006; Prandoni 2009; Schulman 1985; Sudlow 1992). Studies were excluded for the following reasons (some studies were excluded for more than one reason): no objective tests used to confirm VTE for all participants (Campbell 2007; Fennerty 1987; Holmgren 1985; O'Sullivan 1972; Sudlow 1992); no blinded or partly blinded outcome assessment or unclear whether blinded outcome measurement was used (Agrawal 2011; Campbell 2007; Drouet 2003; Farraj 2004; Fennerty 1987; Ferrara 2006; Holmgren 1985; Lagerstedt 1985; O'Sullivan 1972; Schulman 1985; Sudlow 1992); INR target range not the same in the treatment arms (Ascani 1999); duration of VKA in one arm tailored on the basis of ultrasonography findings (flexible duration) (Prandoni 2009); and discontinuation of treatment by all participants for one month before randomization (Palareti 2006).

Risk of bias in included studies

See also the Risk of bias in included studies summary (Figure 2 and Figure 3).



Figure 2. Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item for each included study.



Figure 3. Risk of bias graph: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item presented as percentages across all included studies.



Allocation

Nine studies (82%) were deemed to have adequate sequence generation and therefore were classified as being at low risk of bias for this domain (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997; Siragusa 2008). The risk of bias was unclear for two studies because they did not provide information about the randomization process (Eischer 2009; Ridker 2003). In eight studies, the assigned treatment was adequately concealed before allocation (low risk of selection bias) (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997) and was unclear for the remaining three studies (Eischer 2009; Ridker 2003).

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions.

Better health.

ibrarv

Blinding

In four of the included studies, participants were randomly assigned to the sham duration of treatment with VKA and received placebo and sham monitoring (Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Ridker 2003). These studies were classified as being at low risk for performance bias. In the other seven included studies, treatment was not blinded (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Eischer 2009; Pinede 2001; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997; Siragusa 2008). Outcome assessment was performed by a committee unaware of treatment allocation in all studies. In two of these studies, blinded outcome assessment was performed only for recurrent VTE, not for bleeding events (Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997). For these studies, the risk for detection bias was classified as unclear.

Incomplete outcome data

One trial reported that 0.6% of participants were excluded after randomization (Schulman 1995), and another study reported that 2.7% of participants withdrew shortly after randomization (Levine 1995). In two studies, 3% of participants were lost to follow-up (Levine 1995; Pinede 2001). Schulman 1995 and Schulman 1997 mentioned that 4.9% and 6.2% of participants dropped out; however, the study authors were able to collect information about outcome events among these participants from computer registries.

Selective reporting

Only one study was registered at clinicaltrial.gov (Siragusa 2008), and all prespecified outcomes of interest in the review were reported in the prespecified way in the final publication. Therefore the risk for reporting bias was considered low in this study. For the remaining studies, the risk of reporting bias was classified as unclear.

Other potential sources of bias

Upon review of the studies, no other potential sources of bias were identified.

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison Long-term or short-term treatment with vitamin K antagonists for patients with venous thromboembolism

Incidence of recurrent VTE

Ten of the 11 studies reported on the occurrence of symptomatic VTE during the period from cessation of treatment with VKA in the short duration arm until cessation of treatment in the long duration arm (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Eischer 2009; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997).

Five of the 10 studies showed statistically significant protection from recurrent venous thromboembolic complications during prolonged treatment with VKA (Kearon 1999; Levine 1995; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997). Four studies showed a clear trend (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Kearon 2004; Pinede 2001). The study of Eischer 2009 showed no difference (Analysis 1.1). Combining the ten studies revealed that 155 (8.8%) of 1765 participants had thromboembolic complications in the short arm, and only 30 (1.6%) of 1771 participants had thromboembolic complications in the long arm. Analysis of pooled data from these studies showed a statistically significant reduction in



thromboembolic events during this period (RR 0.20, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.38, P < 0.00001).

Seven of the 11 studies evaluated the incidence of recurrent VTE in the period after cessation of study medication until the end of follow-up (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Eischer 2009; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Schulman 1995). These individual studies did not show a statistically significant increase in venous thromboembolic events among participants in the long arm after cessation of treatment. Combining these studies showed that 101 (7.6%) of 1321 participants who were treated for the longer period with VKA and 78 (5.9%) of 1318 participants who were treated for a shorter period experienced a recurrence (Analysis 2.1). Analysis of the pooled data showed a non-statistically significant difference in the incidence of recurrence during this period (RR 1.28, 95% CI 0.97 to 1.70, P = 0.09). Although a somewhat higher risk was found for participants in the long duration arm after cessation of treatment compared with those in the short duration arm, a rebound effect could not be clearly demonstrated.

When the entire period after randomization reported in the publication was considered, four of the 11 studies showed statistically significant protection from recurrent thromboembolic complications (Kearon 1999; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997). See Analysis 3.1. Substantial heterogeneity could be observed between the studies (P = 0.0005, I² = 68%). Graphically, two groups can be identified: those with extended follow-up after cessation of treatment with VKA in the long arm (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Eischer 2009; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Siragusa 2008) (pooled data: RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.54 to 1.01) and those without extended follow-up after cessation of treatment with VKA in the long arm (Kearon 1999; Schulman 1997) (pooled data: RR 0.10, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.29). Therefore, we decided to refrain from pooling all studies.

Comparisons of two specific durations

It was possible to extract data from more than one study for the following durations.

One month versus three months

Pooling the data from Kearon 2004 and Levine 1995 showed a significant reduction in recurrent VTE in participants who had received prolonged VKA treatment (RR 0.18, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.79, P = 0.02). See Analysis 4.1.

Three months versus six months

Pooling the data from Agnelli 2001, Agnelli 2003, Kearon 1999, and Pinede 2001 showed a significant reduction in recurrent VTE among participants who had received prolonged VKA treatment (RR 0.10, 95% CI 0.02 to 0.43, P = 0.002). See Analysis 5.1.

Three months versus 12 months

Pooling the data from Agnelli 2001, Agnelli 2003, and Kearon 1999 revealed a significant reduction in recurrent VTE among participants who had received prolonged VKA treatment (RR 0.18, 95% CI 0.071 to 0.45, P = 0.0002). See Analysis 6.1.

Incidence of major bleeding

Six studies reported on the incidence of major bleeding during the period from cessation of treatment with VKA in the short duration arm until cessation of treatment in the long duration arm (Agnelli 2001; Eischer 2009; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Ridker 2003). None of the individual studies showed a statistically significant increase in bleeding complications during prolonged treatment with VKA. Combining these studies revealed that three (0.4%) of 675 participants had major bleeding in the short treatment arm versus 14 (2.1%) of 675 participants in the long treatment arm (Analysis 1.2). Analysis of pooled data from these studies showed a statistically significant increase in major bleeding complications during this period (RR 3.44, 95% CI 1.22 to 9.74, P = 0.02).

Two studies reported on the incidence of major bleeding in the period after cessation of study medication in the long duration arm until end of follow-up (Eischer 2009; Kearon 2004). However, both studies reported no major bleeding events during this period.

All included trials reported on the occurrence of major bleeding complications for the entire period after randomization until end of follow-up (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Eischer 2009; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997; Siragusa 2008). None of the individual studies showed a statistically significant increase in bleeding complications during prolonged treatment with VKA. Combining these studies revealed that 44 (2.4%) of 1859 participants with prolonged treatment and 16 (0.9%) of 1857 participants with short treatment had major bleeding (Analysis 3.2). Analysis of pooled data showed an increase in major bleeding during the entire study period (RR 2.609, 95% CI 1.51 to 4.49, P = 0.0006).

Mortality

Four studies reported mortality during the period from cessation of treatment with VKA in the short duration arm until cessation of treatment in the long duration arm (Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Ridker 2003). Two of these studies showed a non-statistically significant reduction in mortality during prolonged treatment with vitamin K antagonists (Kearon 1999; Ridker 2003). No trend was observed in Levine 1995. Combining these studies showed that 20 (3.8%) of 525 participants in the short arm died, as did 14 (2.7%) of 524 participants in the long arm (Analysis 1.3). Analysis of pooled data from these studies showed that prolonged treatment was associated with a non-statistically significant reduction in mortality (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.35 to 1.34, P = 0.27).

Only one study reported specifically on the number of participants who died during the period after cessation of study medication in the long arm until end of follow-up (Kearon 2004). Nine studies reported on mortality for the entire period after randomization (Agnelli 2001; Agnelli 2003; Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Pinede 2001; Ridker 2003; Schulman 1995; Schulman 1997). None showed a statistically significant reduction in mortality. Combining these studies revealed that 75 (4.3%) of 1753 participants died with prolonged treatment and 83 (4.7%) of 1749 participants died without prolonged treatment with VKA (Analysis 3.3). Analysis of pooled data showed a non-statistically significant reduction in mortality during the entire study period (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.66 to 1.21, P = 0.46).

Sensitivity analysis

Analysis of studies with adequate concealment of allocation before randomization

Separate analyses for studies with adequate allocation concealment did not change the results significantly.

Analysis of studies without missing values

Separate analyses for studies in which none of the participants dropped out or were lost to follow-up did not change the results significantly.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

In this review, data from included studies were pooled to evaluate the efficacy and safety of different durations of treatment with VKA among participants with symptomatic VTE.

We found a statistically significant reduction in recurrent VTE during the period in which treatment with VKA was prolonged, which was independent of the period elapsed since the index thromboembolic event (RR 0.20, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.38, P < 0.00001). Although the periods of treatment differed greatly between studies, these periods could be combined because the relative effect of oral anticoagulant treatment was considered and was homogeneous during the period of continuation. Reduction in recurrent VTE during the period that treatment with VKA was prolonged may be somewhat counterbalanced by an excess of recurrences shortly after cessation of prolonged treatment, but this finding did not reach statistical significance (RR 1.28, 95% CI 0.97 to 1.70, P = 0.09). In addition, a substantial increase in bleeding complications was observed among participants during the period in which VKA was prolonged (RR 3.44, 95% CI 1.22 to 9.74), and a non-statistically significant reduction in mortality was shown (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.35 to 1.34).

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Only four studies reported mortality during the period from cessation of treatment with VKA in the short duration arm until cessation of treatment in the long duration arm (Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Ridker 2003). Furthermore, as in all randomized controlled trials, stringent inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied, which means that the current evidence is applicable to patients without increased risk of bleeding. It is likely that absolute bleeding risk is higher in real-world patients.

Quality of the evidence

See Summary of findings for the main comparison. In general, high-quality evidence suggests that prolonged treatment with VKA reduces the risk for recurrent VTE. Moderate-quality evidence indicates that prolonged treatment with VKA increases the risk for major bleeding events. We considered the quality of evidence as moderate because of relatively wide confidence intervals around the point estimate; however the point estimates were very similar across all included trials. Moderate-quality evidence suggests that prolonged treatment with VKA does not reduce mortality significantly, although this was measured in only four studies, one of which reported no deaths (Kearon 1999; Kearon 2004; Levine 1995; Ridker 2003).

Potential biases in the review process

As two review authors selected and extracted the data independently, the risk of potential bias will be low. Furthermore, we consider it unlikely that we have missed important trials in our search for data because of the extensive literature searches that we conducted. As all studies were investigator-initiated, we consider it unlikely that trials with a less favourable outcome have not been published.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

Although the relative risk reductions remain stable over time elapsed since the index event (RRs varying around 80%), the absolute risk reduction is decreased over time. This can be illustrated by comparing the studies of Levine 1995 and Schulman 1995 with that of Schulman 1997. The studies of Levine 1995 and Schulman 1995 showed an absolute risk reduction of 8% to 9% achieved with only two to 4.5 months of prolonged treatment in the early phases after the thrombotic event. This is far more efficient than the absolute risk reduction of 18% achieved with 42 months of additional treatment in the study of Schulman 1997, six months after the index event. The decline in the incidence of recurrent VTE over time was also observed in the cohort studies of Prandoni 1996 and in the meta-analysis of cohort studies and randomized controlled trials performed by van Dongen 2003. All of this indicates that a greater amount of effort (ie, years of treatment) will be needed to prevent one recurrent event when the time since the index event is increased. This fact is further complicated by a statistically significant and clinically important increase in bleeding complications, which continued during prolongation. A meta-analysis of 33 trials and prospective cohort studies showed that absolute bleeding risk among participants with VTE treated for longer than three months with VKA was 2.7 per 100 patient-years (Linkins 2003). The case fatality rate of major bleeding was 13.4% (9.4% to 17.4%), and the rate of intracranial bleeding was 1.15 (1.14 to 16) per 100 patient-years (Linkins 2003). For participants who received anticoagulants for longer than three months, the case fatality rate of major bleeding remained high at 9.1% (2.5% to 21.7%), and the rate of intracranial bleeding was 0.65 (0.63 to 0.68) per 100 patient-years. This adds to a further decrease in net clinical benefit of prolonged treatment with VKA after VTE.

The decrease in efficacy and the remaining risk for bleeding during continuing treatment indicate that at some point in time, further continuation is not cost-effective, nor is it harmful. Given that the case fatality rate of recurrent VTE decreases over time (Carrier 2010), whereas the risk of major bleeding increases with age, the optimum length of anticoagulant treatment after an episode of VTE remains uncertain (De Jong 2012; Middeldorp 2011). As patients have different risk profiles, it is likely that this optimal duration will vary. However, on the basis of our results alone, the optimal duration cannot be defined. For this purpose, a decision analytic approach could be used by balancing benefit and risk on the basis of individual risk profiles (Prins 1999a; Prins 1999b).

In conclusion, this meta-analysis shows that treatment with VKA reduces the risk of recurrent VTE for as long as they are used. However, the absolute risk of recurrent VTE declines over time, although the risk for major bleeding remains. Thus, the efficacy of VKA administration decreases over time from occurrence of the index event.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

This systematic review indicates that prolonged treatment with VKA reduces the risk of recurrent VTE for as long as they are used. However, lifelong treatment seems not to be indicated, in that efficacy during continuing treatment decreases, while the risk for major bleeding remains.

Implications for research

Further studies are required to determine for how long the duration of treatment with VKA should be extended. As patients have

different risk profiles, the optimal duration will vary between specific groups. For this purpose, a decision analytic approach could be used by balancing benefit and risk on the basis of individual risk profiles. Furthermore, the expected increasing use of NOACs for prolonged treatment of VTE may modify the balance between recurrent VTE risk and bleeding.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Peripheral Vascular Diseases Review Group for their assistance with searching the literature.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Agnelli 2001 {published data only}

Agnelli G, Prandoni P, Santamaria MG, Bagatella P, Iorio A, Bazzan M, et al. Three months versus one year of oral anticoagulant therapy for idiopathic deep venous thrombosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2001;**345**(3):165-9.

Agnelli 2003 {published data only}

Agnelli G, Prandoni P, Becattini C, Silingardi M, Taliani MR, Miccio M, et al. Extended oral anticoagulant therapy after first episode of pulmonary embolism. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2003;**139**(1):19-25.

Eischer 2009 {published data only}

Eischer L, Gartner V, Schulman S, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. 6 versus 30 months anticoagulation for recurrent venous thrombosis in patients with high factor VIII. *Annals of Hematology* 2009;**88**:485-90.

Kearon 1999 {published data only}

Kearon C, Gent M, Hirsh J, Weitz J, Kovacs MJ, Anderson DR, et al. A comparison of three months of anticoagulation with extended anticoagulation for a first episode of idiopathic venous thromboembolism. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1999;**340**(12):901-7.

Kearon 2004 {published data only}

Kearon C, Ginsberg JS, Anderson DR, Kovacs MJ, Wells P, Julian JA, et al. Comparison of 1 month with 3 months of anticoagulation for a first episode of venous thromboembolism associated with a transient risk factor. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2004;**2**:743-9.

Levine 1995 {published data only}

Levine MN, Hirsh J, Gent M, Turpie AG, Weitz J, Ginsberg J, et al. Optimal duration of oral anticoagulant therapy: a randomized trial comparing four weeks with three months of warfarin in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 1995;**74**(2):606-11.

Levine MN, Hirsh J, Gent M, Turpie AG, Weitz J, Ginsburg J, et al. Optimal duration of oral anticoagulant therapy: a randomized trial comparing four weeks with three months of warfarin in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis (DVT). Thrombosis and Haemostasis 1993; Vol. 69, issue 6:982. Abstract No 1581.

Pinede 2001 {published data only}

Pinede L, Ninet J, Duhaut P, Chabaud S, Demolombe-Rague S, Durieu I, et al. Comparison of 3 and 6 months of oral anticoagulant therapy after a first episode of proximal deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism and comparison of 6 and 12 weeks of therapy after isolated calf deep vein thrombosis. *Circulation* 2001;**103**(20):2453-60.

Ridker 2003 {published data only}

Ridker P, Goldhaber S, Glynn R. Long-term, lowintensity warfarin for the prevention of recurrent venous thromboembolism: the PREVENT trial. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis 2003; Vol. 1, issue Suppl 1:Abstract OC001.

Ridker PM, Goldhaber SZ, Danielson E, Rosenberg Y, Eby CS, Deitcher SR, et al. Long-term, low-intensity warfarin therapy for the prevention of recurrent venous thromboembolism. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2003;**348**(15):1425-34.

Schulman 1995 {published data only}

Schulman S, Rhedin A-S, Lindmarker P, Carlsson A, Larfars G, Nicol P, et al. A comparison of six weeks with six months of oral anticoagulant therapy after a first episode of venous thromboembolism. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1995;**332**(25):1661-5.

Schulman 1997 {published data only}

Schulman S, Granqvist S, Holmstrom M, Carlsson A, Lindmarker P, Nicol P, et al. The duration of oral anticoagulant therapy after a second episode of venous thromboembolism. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1997;**336**(6):393-8.

Siragusa 2008 {published data only}

Siragusa S, Malato A, Anastasio R, Cigna V, Milio G, Amato C, et al. Residual vein thrombosis to establish duration of anticoagulation after a first episode of deep vein thrombosis: the Duration of Anticoagulation based on Compression Ultrasound (DACUS) study. *Blood* 2008;**112**(3):511-5.

References to studies excluded from this review

Agrawal 2011 {published data only}

Agrawal N, Kumar S, Singh K, Singh G, Sharma S, Seth T, et al. Study of duration of anticoagulation in patients with deep vein thrombosis based on compression ultrasound. *Indian Journal of Hematology and Blood Transfusion* 2011;**27**:230.

Ascani 1999 {published data only}

Ascani A, Iorio A, Agnelli G. Withdrawal of warfarin after deep vein thrombosis: effects of a low fixed dose on rebound thrombin generation. *Blood Coagulation and Fibrinolysis* 1999;**10**:291-5.

Ascani A, Iorio A, Stabile AM, Agnelli G. Withdrawal of warfarin therapy after deep vein thrombosis: a randomised study on the effects of a very low fixed dose regimen. Thrombosis and Haemostasis 1997, issue Suppl 8 June:83. Abstract No PS-335.

Campbell 2007 {published data only}

Campbell IA, Bentley DP, Prescott RJ, Routledge PA, Shetty HG, Williamson IJ. Anticoagulation for three versus six months in patients with deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism, or both: randomised trial. *BMJ* 2007;**334(7595)**:674.

NCT00365950. 3 months' versus 6 months' anticoagulation in patients with DVT. http://clinicaltrial.gov/show/NCT00365950 (accessed 22 April 2014).



Drouet 2003 {published data only}

Drouet L, Bosson JL, Lanoye P, Dutrey-Dupagne C, Gence D. A prospective randomized study to assess the usefulness of venous compression ultrasonography (CUS) and plasma ddimer (DD) assay in the decision to discontinue treatment with a vitamin K antagonists (VKA) after an acute deepvein thrombosis (DVT). Presented at XIX Congress of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2003 (Suppl 1):Abstract P1952.

Farraj 2004 {published data only}

Farraj RS. Anticoagulation period in idiopathic venous thromboembolism. How long is enough?. *Saudi Medical Journal* 2004;**25(7)**:848-51.

Fennerty 1987 {published data only}

Fennerty AG, Dolben J, Thomas P, Backhouse G, Bentley DP, Campbell IA, et al. A comparison of 3 and 6 weeks' anticoagulation in the treatment of venous thromboembolism. *Clinical and Laboratory Haematology* 1987;**9**(1):17-21.

Ferrara 2006 {published data only}

Ferrara F, Meli F, Amato C, Cospite V, Raimondi F, Novo G, et al. Optimal duration of treatment in surgical patients with calf venous thrombosis involving one or more veins. *Angiology* 2006;**57(4)**:418-23.

Holmgren 1985 {published data only}

Andersson G, Fagrell B, Holmgren K, Johnsson H, Ljungberg B, Wilhelmsson S. Antithrombin III in patients with acute deep vein thrombosis during heparin treatment (subcutaneous and intravenous) and during and after treatment with oral coumarins. *Thrombosis Research* 1984;**34**(4):333-40.

Holmgren K, Andersson G, Fagrell B, Johnsson H, Ljungberg B, Nilsson E, et al. One month versus six months therapy with oral anticoagulants after symptomatic deep-vein thrombosis. Thrombosis and Haemostasis 1983; Vol. 50, issue 1:310. Abstract No. 0987.

Holmgren K, Andersson G, Fagrell B, Johnsson H, Ljungberg B, Nilsson E, et al. One-month versus six-month therapy with oral anticoagulants after symptomatic deep vein thrombosis. *Acta Medica Scandinavica* 1985;**218**(3):279-84.

Lagerstedt 1985 {published data only}

Lagerstedt CI, Olsson CG, Fagher BO, Oqvist BW, Albrechtsson U. Need for long term anticoagulant treatment in symptomatic calf vein thrombosis. *Lancet* 1985;**2**(8454):515-8.

O'Sullivan 1972 {published data only}

O'Sullivan EF. Duration of anticoagulant therapy in venous thrombo-embolism. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1972;**2**(20):1104-7.

Palareti 2006 {published data only}

Palareti G, Cosmi B, Legnani C, Tosetto A, Brusi C, Iorio A, et al. D-dimer testing to determine the duration of anticoagulation therapy. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2006;**355**(17):1780-9.

Prandoni 2009 {published data only}

Prandoni P, Prins MH, Lensing AW, Ghirarduzzi A, Ageno W, Imberti D, et al. Residual thrombosis on ultrasonography to guide the duration of anticoagulation in patients with deep venous thrombosis: a randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2009;**150**(9):577-85.

Schulman 1985 {published data only}

Schulman S, Lockner D, Juhlin-Dannfelt A. The duration of oral anticoagulation after deep vein thrombosis. A randomized study. *Acta Medica Scandinavica* 1985;**217**(5):547-52.

Sudlow 1992 {published data only}

Sudlow MF, Campbell IA, Angel JH, Bentley DP, Fennerty AG, Prescott RJ, et al. Optimum duration of anticoagulation for deep-vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. *Lancet* 1992;**340**(8824):873-6.

References to ongoing studies

ISRCTN73819751 {published data only}

Fitzmaurice DAM. ExACT: extended anticoagulation treatment for VTE: a randomised trial. *Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis* 2011;**31**(3):399.

ISRCTN73819751. Extended anticoagulation treatment for venous thromboembolism (VTE): a prospective multicentre randomised controlled trial (ExACT study). http:// www.controlled-trials.com/ISRCTN73819751 (accessed 6 April 2014).

Tullett J, Murray E, Nichols L, Holder R, Lester W, Rose P, et al. Trial protocol: a randomised controlled trial of extended anticoagulation treatment versus routine anticoagulation treatment for the prevention of recurrent VTE and post thrombotic syndrome in patients being treated for a first episode of unprovoked VTE (the ExACT study). *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders* 2013;**13**:16.

NCT00740493 {published data only}

Anon. Prolonged anticoagulation after a first episode of idiopathic proximal deep vein thrombosis (PADIS TVP). http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00740493? term=NCT00740493&rank=1 (accessed 6 April 2014).

NCT00740493. Eighteen months of oral anticoagulant therapy versus placebo after six months of anticoagulation for a first episode of idiopathic proximal deep vein thrombosis: a multicentre double-blind randomized controlled trial. "PADIS-TVP" study. http://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00740493 (accessed 6 April 2014).

NCT00740883 {published data only}

Couturaud F. [Prolongation of oral anticoagulant treatment for eighteen months versus placebo at the decline of a first episode of idiopathic pulmonary embolism treated for six months: a randomised, multicentric, double blind trial. 2006 National PHRC (Hospital clinical research programme)]. *Revue de Pneumologie Clinique* 2008;**64**(6):332-6.



Couturaud F, Pernod G, Pison C, Mismetti P, Sanchez O, Meyer G, et al. Prolongation of anti vitamin K treatment for 18 months versus placebo after 6 months treatment of a first episode of idiopathic pulmonary embolism: a multicentre, randomised double blind trial. The PADIS-EP Trial [French]. *Revue des Maladies Respiratoires* 2008;**25**(7):885-93.

NCT00740883. Eighteen months of oral anticoagulant therapy versus placebo after six months of anticoagulation for a first episode of idiopathic pulmonary embolism: a multicentre double-blind randomized controlled trial. "PADIS-PE" study. http://apps.who.int/trialsearch/Trial.aspx? TrialID=NCT00740883 (accessed 6 April 2014).

NCT00740883. Extended duration of oral anticoagulant therapy after a first episode of idiopathic pulmonary embolism: a randomized controlled trial. "PADIS-PE" Study. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00740883? term=NCt00740883&rank=1 (accessed 22 April 2014).

Additional references

Carrier 2010

Carrier M, Le Gal G, Wells PS, Rodger MA. Systematic review: case-fatality rates of recurrent venous thromboembolism and major bleeding events among patients treated for venous thromboembolism. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2010;**152**(9):578-89.

Collins 1987

Collins R, Gray, Godwin J, Peta R. Avoidance of large biases and large random errors in the assessment of moderate treatment effects: the need for systematic overviews. *Statistics in Medicine* 1987;**6**(3):245-50.

De Jong 2012

de Jong PG, Coppens M, Middeldorp S. Duration of anticoagulant therapy for venous thromboembolism: balancing benefits and harms on the long term. *British Journal of Haematology* 2012;**158**(4):433-41.

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.1.0. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Hull 1979

Hull RD, Delmore T, Genton E, Hirsh J, Gent M, Sackett D, et al. Warfarin sodium versus low-dose heparin in the long-term treatment of venous thrombosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1979;**301**(16):855-8.

Koopman 1996

Koopman MM, Prandoni P, Piovella F, Ockelford PA, Brandjes DP, van der Meer J, et al. The Tasman Study Group. Treatment of venous thrombosis with intravenous unfractionated heparin administered in the hospital as compared with subcutaneous low-molecular-weight heparin administered at home. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1996;**334**(11):682-7.

Levine 1996

Levine M, Gent M, Hirsh J, Leclerc J, Anderson D, Weitz J, et al. A comparison of low-molecular-weight heparin administered primarily at home with unfractionated heparin administered in the hospital for proximal deep-vein thrombosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1996;**334**(11):677-81.

Linkins 2003

Linkins LA, Choi PT, Douketis JD. Clinical impact of bleeding in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy for venous thromboembolism: a meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2003;**139**(11):893-900.

Mantel 1959

Mantel N, Haenszel W. Statistical aspects of the analysis of data from retrospective studies of disease. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1959;**22**:719-48.

Middeldorp 2011

Middeldorp S. Duration of anticoagulation for venous thromboembolism. *BMJ* 2011;**342**:d2758.

Prandoni 1996

Prandoni P, Lensing AWA, Cogo A, Cuppini S, Villalta S, Carta M, et al. The long-term clinical course of acute deep venous thrombosis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1996;**125**(1):1-7.

Prins 1999a

Prins MH, Hutten BA, Koopman MMW, Büller HR. The optimal duration of secondary prevention with oral anticoagulants in patients with venous thromboembolism. A decision analysis. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 1999;**(Suppl)**:7-8.

Prins 1999b

Prins MH, Van den Belt AGM, Hutten BA, Bossuyt PMM, Büller HR. Duration of oral anticoagulant treatment in patients with venous thromboembolism and a deficiency of antithrombin, protein C or protein S: a decision analysis. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 1999;**(Suppl)**:180.

RevMan 2012 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.2. The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2012.

Tullett 2013

Tullett J, Murray E, Nichols L, Holder R, Lester W, Rose P, et al. Trial protocol: a randomised controlled trial of extended anticoagulation treatment versus routine anticoagulation treatment for the prevention of recurrent VTE and post thrombotic syndrome in patients being treated for a first episode of unprovoked VTE (the ExACT study). *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders* 2013;**13**:16.

van Dongen 2003

van Dongen CJ, Vink R, Hutten BA, Buller HR, Prins MH. The incidence of recurrent venous thromboembolism after treatment with vitamin K antagonists in relation to time since first event: a meta-analysis. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2003;**163**(11):1285-93.



Yusuf S, Peto R, Lewis J, Collins R, Sleight P. Beta blockade during and after myocardial infarction: an overview of the randomized trials. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases* 1985;**27**(5):335-71.

References to other published versions of this review

Hutten 2000

Hutten BA, Prins MH. Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001367]

Hutten 2006

Hutten BA, Prins MH. Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous thromboembolism. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001367.pub2]

Agnelli 2001				
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial			
	Method of randomization: Randomization sequence was computer-generated; no further details were given			
	Concealment of allocation: yes, central randomization			
	Blinding: open trial with independent, blinded assessment of outcome events			
	Exclusions post randomization: none			
	Losses to follow-up: none			
Participants	Country: Italy			
	Setting: 10 hospitals			
	Participants: 267 patients			
	Mean age: 67 (SD 7) years			
	Gender (M/F): 154/113			
	Inclusion criteria: Patients ranging from 15 to 85 years old with a first episode of symptomatic idiopath- ic proximal DVT, as demonstrated by compression ultrasonography or venography, were eligible for the study, provided they had completed 3 uninterrupted months of VKA without a recurrence of throm- boembolism or bleeding			
	Exclusion criteria: patients who required prolonged anticoagulant therapy for reasons other than VTE, patients with major psychiatric disorders with a life expectancy shorter than 2 years, those who could not return for follow-up visits, and those who declined to participate			
Interventions	Both groups were treated for 3 months with warfarin (in 97% of cases) or acenocoumarol. Participants were then randomly assigned to:			
	 treatment: continue vitamin K antagonists for 9 additional months; or control: discontinue vitamin K antagonists. 			
	The dose of warfarin or other oral anticoagulant was adjusted to achieve a target INR between 2.0 and 3.0			
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recurrent VTE			
	Secondary outcomes: bleeding complications and death			



Agnelli 2001 (Continued)

Follow-up: 33 months after randomization

Risk of bias

Notes

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Central randomization
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Open-label study
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Blinded outcome assessment
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No losses to follow-up
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias

Agnelli 2003	
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial
	Method of randomization: Randomization was performed centrally in permuted blocks of 6
	Concealment of allocation: yes, central randomization
	Blinding: independent, blinded assessment of outcome events
	Exclusions post randomization: none
	Losses to follow-up: none
Participants	Country: Italy
	Setting: 19 hospitals
	Participants: 145 patients
	Mean age: 62 (SD 16) years
	Gender (M/F): 132/194
	Inclusion criteria: consecutive patients ranging from 15 to 85 years of age with a first episode of symp- tomatic, objectively confirmed PE who had completed 3 uninterrupted months of VKA without a recur- rence of bleeding



Agnelli 2003 (Continued)	Exclusion criteria: patients who required prolonged anticoagulant therapy for reasons other than VTE, patients with major psychiatric disorders with a life expectancy shorter than 2 years, those who could not return for follow-up visits, and those who declined to participate			
Interventions	Participants were first treated for 3 months with warfarin or acenocoumarol. Thereafter, they were domly assigned to:			
	 treatment: continue factors) or to 9 addi control: discontinue 	e vitamin K antagonists for 3 additional months (PE associated with temporary risk tional months (idiopathic pulmonary embolism); or e VKA		
	The dose of warfarin or other oral anticoagulant was adjusted to achieve a target INR between 2.0 and 3.0			
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recu	irrence of symptomatic, objectively confirmed VTE		
	Secondary outcomes: major bleeding)	cumulative incidence of adverse outcome events (recurrence of VTE, death, or		
	Follow-up: 33 months	after randomization		
Notes				
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Central randomization		
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Open-label study		
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Blinded outcome assessment		
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No losses to follow-up		
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com		
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias		

Eischer 2009

LISCHEI 2005		
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial	
	Method of randomization: not reported	
	Concealment of allocation: not reported	

(selection bias)

mance bias) All outcomes

Blinding of participants

and personnel (perfor-

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Eischer 2009 (Continued)				
	Blinding: open study			
	Exclusions post randor	nization: none		
	Losses to follow-up: no	ne		
Participants	Countries: Austria and Sweden			
	Setting: 13 hospitals			
	Participants: 34 patient	ts		
	Mean age: 53.5 (SD 17)	years		
	Gender (M/F): 11/23			
	Inclusion criteria: patients older than 18 years with a first DVT and/or PE. Diagnosis of VTE had to be ob- jectified by venography or color-coded duplex ultrasound in case of DVT, or by perfusion/ventilation lung scan or spiral CT in case of PE			
	Exclusion criteria: VTE deficiency of antithrom poor compliance befor in the therapeutic rang tion (C-reactive protein or refusal to participate	provoked by surgery, trauma, prolonged bed rest, pregnancy, or puerperium; nbin, protein C, or protein S; antiphospholipid syndrome; active malignancy; e study entry (less than 30% of international normalized ratio (INR) values with- e); indication for long-term anticoagulation other than VTE; acute-phase reac- i > 1 mg/dL) at the time of factor VIII measurement; FVIII levels below 230 IU/dL; e		
Interventions	All participants had been treated with unfractionated or low-molecular-weight heparin at therapeutic dosages and subsequently received VKA for 6 months. Thereafter, they were randomly assigned to:			
	treatment: continuecontrol: discontinue	e VKA for 2 additional years (INR 2.0 to 3.0); or e VKA		
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recu	rrent symptomatic VTE and major bleeding within 2 years		
Notes	In the publication, the methods section states: "The diagnosis of endpoints was established by an adju- dication committee consisting of independent clinicians and radiologists unaware of the factor VIII lev- els." Because we were wondering whether the adjudicators were also blinded for the duration of treat- ment, we contacted the study authors. They confirmed on January 25, 2013 that the adjudicators were also blinded for the duration of treatment. For external validity: Only participants with high FVIII (mea- sured repeatedly or at least 5 months after the acute VTE) were included			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the ran- domization procedure		
Allocation concealment	Unclear risk	Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the ran-		

Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Diagnosis of endpoint events established by an adjudication committee con- sisting of independent clinicians and radiologists unaware of allocation
Duration of treatment with vita	min K antagonists i	n symptomatic venous thromboembolism (Review)

domization procedure

Open-label study

Duration of treatment with vitamin K antagonists in symptomatic venous throm Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

High risk



Eischer 2009 (Continued)

Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No losses to follow-up
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias

Kearon 1999	
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial
	Method of randomization: computer-generated, stratification according to whether participants pre- sented with DVT alone or with PE and according to clinical center, randomly determined block size of 2 or 4 within each stratum
	Concealment of allocation: yes, randomization performed after eligibility was confirmed
	Blinding: double-blinded and independent blinded outcome assessment
	Exclusions post randomization: none
	Losses to follow-up: none
Participants	Countries: Canada and United States
	Setting: 11 Canadian hospitals and 2 hospitals in the United States
	Participants: 162 patients
	Mean age: 59 (SD 16) years
	Gender (M/F): 98/64
	Inclusion criteria: patients with a first episode of idiopathic VTE and who had completed 3 uninterrupt- ed months of VKA after an initial course of treatment with UFH or LMWH, patients with previous throm- boembolism provided such episodes were secondary to a transient risk factor DVT demonstrated by bilateral compression ultrasonography of the proximal leg veins and (if possible) bilateral impedance plethysmography, and PE by ventilation-perfusion lung scan
	Exclusion criteria: patients with other indications for, or contraindications to, long-term anticoagulant therapy; who required long-term treatment with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, ticlopidine, sulfinpyrazone, dipyridamole, or more than 160 mg of aspirin per day; who had a familial bleeding dis- order; who had a major psychiatric disorder; who were pregnant or could become pregnant; who were allergic to contrast medium; who had a life expectancy of less than 2 years; who were initially treated with a nonlicensed preparation of LMWH; who were considered likely to be noncompliant; or who were unable to complete follow-up visits because of the distance from their residence to the medical center
Interventions	Participants were first treated for 3 months with warfarin. They were then randomly assigned to:
	 treatment: continue VKA for 24 months. The dose of warfarin was adjusted to achieve a target INR between 2.0 and 3.0
	 control: discontinue VKA. Participants received identical-appearing placebo with the dose adjusted to achieve a sham INR of 2.0 to 3.0
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recurrent VTE
	Secondary outcome: bleeding complications and mortality



Kearon 1999 (Continued)

Follow-up: 24 months after randomization

Risk	of	bias

Notes

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomization performed after eligibility was confirmed
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blinded study
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Blinded outcome assessment
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No losses to follow-up
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias

Kearon 2004	
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial
	Method of randomization: stratification according to whether participants presented with asympto- matic DVT or with symptomatic VTE and according to clinical center
	Concealment of allocation: yes, randomization performed after eligibility was confirmed
	Blinding: double-blinded and independent blinded outcome assessment
	Exclusions post randomization: none
	Losses to follow-up: none
Participants	Countries: Canada and United States
	Setting: 11 Canadian hospitals and centers and 2 centers in the United States
	Participants: 165 patients
	Mean age: 56 (SD 16) years
	Gender (M/F): 87/78



(attrition bias)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Kearon 2004 (Continued)				
	Inclusion criteria: patients with a first episode of idiopathic VTE and who had completed 3 uninterrupt- ed months of VKA after an initial course of treatment with UFH or LMWH; patients with previous throm- boembolism provided such episodes were secondary to a transient risk factor DVT demonstrated by bilateral compression ultrasonography of the proximal leg veins and (if possible) bilateral impedance plethysmography, and PE by ventilation-perfusion lung scan			
	Exclusion criteria: patie therapy; who required sulfinpyrazone, dipyric order; who had a majo allergic to contrast me with a nonlicensed pre unable to complete fol	ents with other indications for, or contraindications to, long-term anticoagulant long-term treatment with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, ticlopidine, damole, or more than 160 mg of aspirin per day; who had a familial bleeding dis- r psychiatric disorder; who were pregnant or could become pregnant; who were dium; who had a life expectancy of less than 2 years; who were initially treated eparation of LMWH; who were considered likely to be noncompliant; or who were low-up visits because of the distance from their residence to the medical center		
Interventions	 Participants were first treated for 1 month with warfarin. They were then randomly assigned to: treatment: continue VKA for 2 months. The dose of warfarin was adjusted to achieve a target INR between 2.0 and 3.0; or control: discontinue VKA. Participants received identical-appearing placebo with the dose adjusted to achieve a sham INR of 2.0 to 3.0 			
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recurrent VTE			
	Secondary outcomes:	bleeding complications and mortality		
	Follow-up: 11 months after randomization			
Notes				
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomization performed after eligibility was confirmed		
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blinded study		
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Blinded outcome assessment		

All outcomes Selective reporting (re-Unclear risk No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com porting bias) No concerns of other sources of bias Other bias Low risk

Levine 1995			
Methods	Study design: randomiz	zed clinical trial	
	Method of randomization presence of absence of the second	on: computer-generated allocation schedule; stratification by clinical center, underlying malignancy, and recent therapy with thrombolytic therapy or not	
	Concealment of allocat	ion: yes, randomization performed after eligibility was confirmed	
	Blinding: double-blinde	ed and independent blinded outcome assessment	
	Exclusions post randomization: 4 participants in warfarin group and 2 in placebo group		
	Losses to follow-up: 7 p	participants (6 warfarin group and 1 placebo group) reported as lost to follow-up	
Participants	Countries: Canada and	Italy	
	Setting: 3 Canadian hos	spitals and 1 Italian hospital	
	Participants: 220 patier	nts	
	Mean age: 63 (SD 15) ye	ears	
	Gender (M/F): 109/105		
	Inclusion criteria: patients with a venographically confirmed acute proximal DVT (involving the popliteal or more proximal deep veins)		
	Exclusion criteria: previ tithrombin III, protein C milial bleeding disorde DVT (eg, heart valve; ina survival of less than 3 n	ious history of 2 or more episodes of DVT or PE; presence of a deficiency of an- C, or protein S; current active bleeding process, active peptic ulcer disease, or fa- r; need for continuing anticoagulant therapy not related to qualifying episode of ability to attend follow-up visits because of geographic inaccessibility; expected nonths; presence of an underlying psychiatric or affective disorder; or pregnancy	
Interventions	Participants were first t	reated for 4 weeks with sodium warfarin. They were then randomly assigned to:	
	 treatment: continue VKA for 8 weeks. Daily warfarin dose was adjusted to maintain prothrombin tir at an INR value of 2.0 to 3.0, which was monitored at least once per week; or 		
	• control: discontinue of 2.0 to 3.0	VKA. Participants received placebo with the dose adjusted to achieve a sham INR	
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recurrent DVT or PE and major bleeding during first 8 weeks after randomization		
	Secondary outcome: re domization	ecurrent DVT or PE and major bleeding during the 11-month period after ran-	
	Follow-up: 11 months a	after randomization	
Notes	Before randomization, participants were initially treated with heparin. Vitamin K antagonists were commenced on the fifth day and overlapped with intravenous heparin. After 4 weeks of warfarin, a normal impedance plethysmogram (IPG) was performed. Participants were eligible for the randomized study if their IPG was normal at 4 weeks		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomization performed after eligibility was confirmed	



Levine 1995 (Continued)		
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Double-blind study
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Blinded outcome assessment
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	2.7% withdrew shortly after randomization because they changed their mind; 3.3% of participants did not complete the 9-month follow-up after taking 8 weeks of study medication
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com

Pinede 2001	
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial
	Method of randomization: computer-generated allocation schedule in blocks of 4; schedule stratified for calf DVT or proximal DVT/PE
	Concealment of allocation: yes, central randomization
	Blinding: open-label and independent blinded outcome assessment
	Exclusions post randomization: none
	Losses to follow-up: 22 participants (3%) were reported as lost to follow-up (14 in the short treatment arm, 8 in the long treatment arm)
Participants	Country: France
	Setting: 94 hospitals
	Participants: 736 patients (males and females)
	Age: not reported
	Gender (M/F): not reported
	Inclusion criteria: older than 18 years of age, written informed consent, and symptomatic thrombus be- low popliteal vein or proximal DVT and/or PE confirmed by positive Doppler ultrasonography or venog- raphy
	Exclusion criteria: pregnancy, breast-feeding, previous VTE, vena cava filter implantation, surgical thrombectomy, free-floating thrombus in the inferior vena cava lumen, DVT or PE whose diagnosis did not fulfill the predefined criteria, evolutionary cancer or malignant hematological disease, known bio- logical thrombophilia, severe PE, PE treated by thrombolysis, myocardiopathy, or other diseases justi- fying prolonged anticoagulation therapy, and liver insufficiency
Interventions	At the end of heparin therapy, participants were randomly assigned to:
	 treatment: long course of therapy (6 months for proximal DVT and/or PE; 12 weeks for calf DVT); or control: short oral anticoagulant course (3 months for proximal DVT and/or PE; 6 weeks for isolated calf DVT)



Pinede 2001 (Continued)		
	Participants received fl	uindione with a target INR range of 2.0 to 3.0
Outcomes	Primary outcome: recu	rrent VTE
	Secondary outcomes: I	pleeding complications (major, minor, and fatal) and death
	Follow-up: 15 months a	after randomization
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Central randomization
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias)	High risk	Open-label study

All outcomes		
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Blinded outcome assessment
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	3% lost to follow-up
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias

Ridker 2003

Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial
	Method of randomization: randomization performed centrally and stratified according to clinical site, time since index event (< 6 months or > 6 months), and whether the index event was the participant's first VTE
	Concealment of allocation: not reported
	Blinding: double-blinded, including sham INR measurements and warfarin dose adjustments in the placebo group, and independent blinded outcome assessment
	Exclusions post randomization: none
	Losses to follow-up: not reported
Participants	Countries: USA and Canada
	Setting: 52 hospitals



Ridker 2003 (Continued)	Participants: 508 patie	nts (male and female)	
	Median (interquartile ra	ange) age: placebo 53 (47 to 64) years, warfarin 53 (46 to 65) years	
	Gender (M/F): 268/240		
	Inclusion criteria: Men and women 30 years of age or older with documented idiopathic VTE were eli- gible if they had completed at least 3 uninterrupted months of oral anticoagulation therapy with full- dose warfarin		
	Exclusion criteria: histo or a life expectancy of l dine, clopidogrel, hepa tients who had known	bry of metastatic cancer, major gastrointestinal bleeding, or hemorrhagic stroke, ess than 3 years. Patients who were being treated with dipyridamole, ticlopi- rin, more than 325 mg of aspirin, or drugs that affect prothrombin time and pa- lupus anticoagulant antibodies or antiphospholipid antibodies were excluded	
	Before randomization t run-in phase. They wer titrated to a stable leve per day, or when their l	to the blinded clinical trial, eligible patients participated in a 28-day open-label e excluded during the run-in phase if they could not have their dose of warfarin I that achieved an INR between 1.5 and 2.0 without exceeding a dose of 10 mg evel of compliance was less than 85%	
Interventions	After a 28-day open-lab	el run-in phase, participants were randomly assigned to:	
	treatment: low-dosecontrol: placebo wit	e warfarin titrated to a target INR of 1.5 to 2.0; or h sham INR and sham dose adjustments	
Outcomes	Symptomatic recurrent VTE		
	Major bleeding		
	Composite endpoint of	recurrent VTE, major bleeding, and death from any cause	
Notes	The trial was terminated by the independent data and safety monitoring board after 508 participants had undergone randomization, because of the emergence of a large and statistically significant benefit of low-intensity warfarin therapy in the absence of any substantial evidence of harm		
	had undergone random of low-intensity warfar	nization, because of the emergence of a large and statistically significant benefit in therapy in the absence of any substantial evidence of harm	
Risk of bias	had undergone randon of low-intensity warfar	in therapy in the absence of any substantial evidence of harm	
Risk of bias Bias	had undergone randon of low-intensity warfar	nization, because of the emergence of a large and statistically significant benefit in therapy in the absence of any substantial evidence of harm Support for judgement	
Risk of bias Bias Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Authors' judgement Unclear risk	Support for judgement Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the randomization procedure	
Risk of bias Bias Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Authors' judgement Unclear risk Unclear risk	Support for judgement Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the randomization procedure Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the randomization procedure	
Risk of bias Bias Random sequence generation (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Authors' judgement Unclear risk Low risk	Build and safety monitoring board arter sos participants nization, because of the emergence of a large and statistically significant benefit in therapy in the absence of any substantial evidence of harm Support for judgement Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the ran- domization procedure Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the ran- domization procedure Placebo used, including sham INRs and sham dose adjustments	
Risk of bias Bias Random sequence generation (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)	Authors' judgement Unclear risk Unclear risk Low risk Low risk	All endpoints reviewed by a committee of physicians who were unaware of treatment group assignments	
Risk of bias Bias Random sequence generation (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Authors' judgement Authors' judgement Unclear risk Unclear risk Low risk Low risk Unclear risk	All endpoints reviewed by a committee of physicians who were unaware of treatment group assignments All endpoints reviewed by a committee of physicians who were unaware of treatment group assignments	
Risk of bias Bias Random sequence generation (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Authors' judgement Authors' judgement Unclear risk Unclear risk Low risk Unclear risk	All provided and share y monitoring board after sos participants inization, because of the emergence of a large and statistically significant benefit in therapy in the absence of any substantial evidence of harm Support for judgement Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the randomization procedure Participants randomly assigned but no information provided about the randomization procedure Placebo used, including sham INRs and sham dose adjustments All endpoints reviewed by a committee of physicians who were unaware of treatment group assignments Participant flow chart not provided; no information provided about losses to follow-up No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com	



Ridker 2003 (Continued)

Other bias

Low risk

No concerns of other sources of bias

Schulman 1995	
Methods	Study design: randomized clinical trial
	Method of randomization: computer-generated allocation schedule in blocks of 10
	Concealment of allocation: yes, central randomization
	Blinding: open-label study with independent blinded outcome assessment for recurrent VTE (for bleed- ing events unclear)
	Exclusions post randomization: 5 participants (unknown from which treatment group)
	Losses to follow-up: 44 participants (23 in the short treatment arm, 21 in the long treatment arm). How- ever, the study authors were able to collect information about deaths and hospitalizations among these patients from computer registries
Participants	Country: Sweden
	Setting: 16 hospitals
	Participants: 897 patients
	Mean age: 61 (SD 15) years
	Gender (M/F): 504/393
	Inclusion criteria: patients with a first episode of VTE, patients at least 15 years of age who had acute PE or DVT in the leg, the iliac veins, or both
	Exclusion criteria: a diagnosis of DVT or PE that did not fulfil the criteria described in the article; un- availability of the patient for follow-up; pregnancy; allergy to warfarin or dicoumarol; an indication for continuous oral anticoagulation (eg, an artificial heart valve, chronic atrial fibrillation); permanent, to- tal paresis of the affected leg; arterial insufficiency of the same leg that was graded at functional class III (pain at rest) or worse, constituting a contraindication to the use of compression stockings; a cur- rent/previous venous ulcer; cancer; unwillingness to give oral informed consent; patients who had had more than 1 thromboembolic event. Furthermore, enrolled participants were later excluded from the analysis if results of the initial biochemical screening revealed congenital deficiency of antithrombin, protein C, or protein S
Interventions	All participants were initially treated with UFH or LMWH administered intravenously or subcutaneously for at least 5 days, until a prothrombin time within the target range had been achieved. Treatment with warfarin sodium or dicoumarol was started at the same time as heparin (target INR 2.0 to 2.85)
	Treatment: as above for 6 months
	Control: as above for 6 weeks
Outcomes	Principal endpoints: major bleeding during anticoagulation and death or recurrent VTE
	Follow-up: 2 years after randomization
Notes	
Risk of bias	
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement



Schulman 1995 (Continued)

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Central randomization
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Open-label study
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Blinded outcome assessment for recurrent VTE; unclear for bleeding events
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	4.9% of participants reported in Table 1 as lost to follow-up; however, these participants were reviewed for the primary outcome
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias

Schulman 1997

Methods	Study design: RCT
	Method of randomization: computer-generated, in blocks of 10, stratified to medical center study
	Concealment of allocation: central randomization
	Blinding: open-label study with independent blinded outcome assessment for recurrent VTE (for bleed- ing events unclear)
	Exclusions post randomization: none
	Losses to follow-up: 14 participants dropped out (unknown from which treatment group). However, the study authors were able to collect information about deaths and hospitalizations among these patients from computer registries
Participants	Country: Sweden
	Setting: 16 medical centers
	Participants: 227 patients
	Mean age: 65.5 (SD 12) years
	Gender (M/F): 138/89
	Inclusion criteria: patients with a second episode of VTE; patients at least 15 years of age who had acute PE or DVT in the leg, the iliac veins, or both
	Exclusion criteria: a diagnosis of DVT or PE that did not fulfill the criteria described in the article; un- availability of the patient for follow-up; pregnancy; allergy to warfarin or dicoumarol; an indication for continuous oral anticoagulation (eg, an artificial heart valve, chronic atrial fibrillation); permanent, to- tal paresis of the affected leg; arterial insufficiency of the same leg that was graded at functional class III (pain at rest) or worse, constituting a contraindication to the use of compression stockings; a cur-



Schulman 1997 (Continued)	rent/previous venous u more than 1 thromboe analysis if results of the protein C, or protein S	ulcer; cancer; unwillingness to give oral informed consent; patients who had had mbolic event. Furthermore, enrolled participants were later excluded from the e initial biochemical screening revealed congenital deficiency of antithrombin,					
Interventions	All participants were initially treated with UFH or LMWH administered intravenously or subcutaneou for at least 5 days, until a prothrombin time within the target range had been achieved. Treatment w warfarin sodium or dicoumarol was started at the same time as heparin (target INR 2.0 to 2.85)						
	Treatment: as above co	ontinued indefinitely					
	Control: as above for d	uration of 6 months					
Outcomes	Principal endpoints: m	ajor bleeding, death or recurrent VTE during the 4-year period					
	Follow-up: 4 years afte	r randomization					
Notes	For external validity: o	nly participants with second episode of VTE were included					
Risk of bias							
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement					
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated					
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Central randomization					
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Open-label study					
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Blinded outcome assessment for recurrent VTE; unclear for bleeding events					
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	6.2% of participants dropped out; however, these participants were reviewed for the primary outcome					
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol available at clinicaltrials.gov or controlled-trials.com					
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias					

Siragusa 2008

MethodsStudy design: randomized clinical trialMethod of randomization: a different randomization sequence for each study site was computer-gener-
ated and balanced in blocks of 10Concealment of allocation: not reportedBlinding: outcomes were adjudicated by assessors who were blinded to treatment allocation



Siragusa 2008 (Continued)	Exclusions post random	nization: none reported						
	Losses to follow-up: no	ne reported						
Participants	Country: Italy							
	Setting: 3 medical cent	ers						
	Participants: 180 patier	its						
	Mean age: 57.1 (SD 14.1) years in the treatment group, 61.1 (SD 11.5) years in the control group						
	Gender (M/F): 95/85	, joaro are a calineria g. cap, care (cero, joaro are certa el g. cap						
	Inclusion criteria: nationts with a first enisode of symptomatic provimal DVT who had received VKA for							
	3 months, and who wer fined as thrombus occu	re found to have residual vein thrombosis on compression ultrasonography (de- ipying more than 40% of the vein diameter)						
	Exclusion criteria: activ er known thrombophili for FV Leiden or FII 202: ease, renal failure, livin	e cancer, limited life expectancy, antiphospholipid antibody syndrome, or oth- c states (such as deficiencies of antithrombin and proteins C and S, homozygous LOG > A mutations, or combined heterozygosity for the same), serious liver dis- g too far from the recruiting center						
Interventions	Initial treatment for the tial heparin treatment)	acute episode consisted of VKA for 3 months (no information is given about ini-						
	Treatment: continue V	KA (target INR 2.0 to 3.0) for 9 months						
	Control: discontinue VM	Control: discontinue VKA						
Outcomes	Endpoints: recurrent VTE and/or major bleeding							
	Follow-up: at least 1 year after VKA discontinuation							
Notes	The patient population included in this review is part of a larger population of 258 patients with a first episode of VTE who had been treated for 3 months with VKA. 78 patients did not have residual vein obstruction, and all discontinued anticoagulant treatment; 180 patients with residual vein obstruction were randomly assigned to discontinue or continue treatment with VKA							
Risk of bias								
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement						
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Computer-generated						
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	No information given about the allocation procedure						
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Open-label study						
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	All suspected events evaluated by a central adjudication committee, whose members were unaware of the participant name, the center, and the group assignment						
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Participant flow chart provided, but no information provided about losses to follow-up						



Siragusa 2008 (Continued)

Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Study registered at clinicaltrial.gov. All prespecified outcomes of interest in the review were reported in the prespecified way in the final publication
Other bias	Low risk	No concerns of other sources of bias

CT: computed tomography. DVT: deep venous thrombosis. INR: international normalized ratio. IU/dL: international unit/deciliter. LMWH: low-molecular-weight heparin. mg/dL: milligrams/deciliter. PE: pulmonary embolism. RCT: randomized controlled trial. SD: standard deviation. UFH: unfractionated heparin. VKA: vitamin K antagonists. VTE: venous thromboembolism.

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Agrawal 2011	Blinded outcome assessment unclear
Ascani 1999	INR target range not the same in treatment arms
Campbell 2007	Objective tests used to confirm VTE not used for all participants and blinded outcome assessment unclear
Drouet 2003	No blinded outcome assessment
Farraj 2004	No blinded outcome assessment
Fennerty 1987	No objective tests used to confirm VTE for all participants and no blinded outcome assessment
Ferrara 2006	No blinded outcome assessment
Holmgren 1985	No objective tests used to confirm VTE for all participants and no blinded outcome assessment
Lagerstedt 1985	No blinded outcome assessment
O'Sullivan 1972	No objective tests used to confirm VTE for all participants and no blinded outcome assessment
Palareti 2006	All participants discontinued VKA for 1 month before randomization
Prandoni 2009	Duration of VKA in one arm was tailored on the basis of ultrasonographic findings (flexible dura- tion)
Schulman 1985	No blinded outcome assessment
Sudlow 1992	No objective tests used to confirm VTE for all participants and partly blinded outcome assessment

INR: International normalized ratio. VKA: vitamin K antagonists. VTE: venous thromboembolism.



Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

ISRCTN73819751

Trial name or title	Extended anticoagulation treatment for venous thromboembolism (VTE): a prospective multicen- ter randomized controlled trial (ExACT)
Methods	Randomized controlled trial
Participants	352 patients with a first unprovoked proximal DVT or PE who are on treatment with anticoagulants and have completed 3 to 6 months of anticoagulant therapy (VKA with target INR 2 to 3)
Interventions	Intervention 1: continue warfarin for a further 2 years
	Intervention 2: discontinue warfarin
Outcomes	Primary outcome: number of recurrent thrombotic events between those showing a positive d- dimer on treatment and those showing a positive d-dimer who receive no treatment, measured every 6 months for 2 years
Starting date	September 30, 2010
Contact information	Prof David Fitzmaurice
	Primary Care Clinical Sciences
	The University of Birmingham Edgbaston, United Kingdom
Notes	Protocol published: Tullett 2013

NCT00740493	
Trial name or title	Prolonged anticoagulation after a first episode of idiopathic proximal deep vein thrombosis (PADIS TVP)
Methods	Double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial
Participants	374 patients with a first episode of idiopathic proximal DVT who have been treated for 6 months with VKA with an INR between 2 and 3
Interventions	Intervention 1: warfarin for 18 months
	Intervention 2: placebo (dose adjusted to dummy INR) for 18 months
Outcomes	Symptomatic recurrent VTE and serious bleedings
Starting date	July 2007
Contact information	Francis Couturaud, University Hospital, Brest
Notes	Final data collection date for primary outcome measure: November 2015



NCT00740883

Extended duration of oral anticoagulant therapy after a first episode of idiopathic pulmonary em- bolism: a randomized controlled trial. "PADIS-PE" study
Randomized placebo-controlled trial
374 patients with a first episode of idiopathic proximal PE who have been treated for 6 months with VKA with an INR between 2 and 3
Intervention 1: warfarin for 18 months
Intervention 2: placebo (dose adjusted to dummy INR) for 18 months
Symptomatic recurrent VTE and serious bleedings
July 2007
Francis Couturaud, University Hospital, Brest
Final data collection date for primary outcome measure: November 2015

DVT: deep vein thrombosis. INR: international normalized ratio. PE: pulmonary embolism. VKA: vitamin K antagonist. VTE: venous thromboembolism.

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size	
1 Incidence of recurrent VTE	10	3536	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.20 [0.11, 0.38]	
2 Incidence of major bleed- ing	6	1350	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	3.44 [1.22, 9.74]	
3 Mortality	4	1049	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.69 [0.35, 1.34]	

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% CI
Agnelli 2001	4/134	11/133	+	14.12%	0.36[0.12,1.11]
Agnelli 2003	1/165	6/161		6.51%	0.16[0.02,1.34]
Eischer 2009	2/17	2/17		7.91%	1[0.16,6.3]
Kearon 1999	1/79	17/83		7.06%	0.06[0.01,0.45]
Kearon 2004	1/81	2/84		5.39%	0.52[0.05,5.61]
		Favours long VKA	0.005 0.1 1 10 200	Favours short VKA	



Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA	Risk	Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Rand	om, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% CI
Levine 1995	1/109	9/105	+		6.79%	0.11[0.01,0.83]
Pinede 2001	1/361	6/375	+	_	6.48%	0.17[0.02,1.43]
Ridker 2003	14/255	37/253			21.15%	0.38[0.21,0.68]
Schulman 1995	2/454	42/443	+		11.1%	0.05[0.01,0.19]
Schulman 1997	3/116	23/111			13.49%	0.12[0.04,0.4]
Total (95% CI)	1771	1765	•		100%	0.2[0.11,0.38]
Total events: 30 (Long VKA), 155 (She						
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.38; Chi ² =15.9	5, df=9(P=0.07); l ² =43.	56%				
Test for overall effect: Z=5.02(P<0.00	01)					
		Favours long VKA	0.005 0.1	1 10 2	⁰⁰ Favours short VKA	

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 2 Incidence of major bleeding.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fi	xed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Kearon 1999	3/79	0/83		-		+		10.82%	7.35[0.39,140.05]
Levine 1995	1/109	0/105			+		-	11.3%	2.89[0.12,70.18]
Eischer 2009	1/17	0/17			+		-	11.09%	3[0.13,68.84]
Ridker 2003	5/255	2/253			+•			44.53%	2.48[0.49,12.67]
Agnelli 2001	4/134	1/133				•		22.26%	3.97[0.45,35.06]
Kearon 2004	0/81	0/84							Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	675	675						100%	3.44[1.22,9.74]
Total events: 14 (Long VKA), 3 (Short	VKA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.45, df=	=4(P=0.98); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=2.33(P=0.02)									
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	

Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Long vs short, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 3 Mortality.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ri	sk Rati	io		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, F	ixed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Kearon 1999	1/79	3/83		+				14.54%	0.35[0.04,3.3]
Levine 1995	9/109	9/105						45.55%	0.96[0.4,2.33]
Ridker 2003	4/255	8/253		_	■┼			39.91%	0.5[0.15,1.63]
Kearon 2004	0/81	0/84							Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	524	525			◆			100%	0.69[0.35,1.34]
Total events: 14 (Long VKA), 20 (Sho	ort VKA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =1.2, df	=2(P=0.55); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=1.1(P=0.27))								
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Incidence of recurrent VTE	7	2639	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.28 [0.97, 1.70]
2 Incidence of major bleeding	2	179	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
3 Mortality	1	165	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	3.11 [0.13, 75.24]

Comparison 2. Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ris	k Ratio		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fiz	xed, 95% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Agnelli 2001	17/134	10/133			+-		12.73%	1.69[0.8,3.55]
Agnelli 2003	14/165	12/161			+-		15.41%	1.14[0.54,2.39]
Eischer 2009	5/17	0/17			+		0.63%	11[0.66,184.62]
Kearon 2004	2/81	3/84			+		3.74%	0.69[0.12,4.03]
Levine 1995	6/109	3/105			++		3.88%	1.93[0.49,7.5]
Pinede 2001	20/361	15/375			+		18.67%	1.39[0.72,2.66]
Schulman 1995	37/454	35/443			+		44.94%	1.03[0.66,1.61]
Total (95% CI)	1321	1318			•		100%	1.28[0.97,1.7]
Total events: 101 (Long VKA), 78 (S	ihort VKA)							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =4.65,	df=6(P=0.59); I ² =0%							
Test for overall effect: Z=1.72(P=0.	09)			- I				
		Favours long VKA	0.002	0.1	1 10	500	Favours short VKA	

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up, Outcome 2 Incidence of major bleeding.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ris	k Rat	io			Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fiz	xed,	95% CI				M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Eischer 2009	0/17	0/17								Not estimable
Kearon 2004	0/75	0/70								Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	92	87								Not estimable
Total events: 0 (Long VKA), 0 (Short VKA	N)									
Heterogeneity: Not applicable										
Test for overall effect: Not applicable										
		Favours long VKA	0.1 0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	Favours short VKA	

Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Long vs short, period after cessation of study medication until end of follow-up, Outcome 3 Mortality.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ris	k Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fiz	xed, 95	% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Kearon 2004	1/81	0/84			-		-	100%	3.11[0.13,75.24]
Total (95% CI)	81	84					-	100%	3.11[0.13,75.24]
Total events: 1 (Long VKA), 0 (Short VKA	A)								
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=0.7(P=0.49)									
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	

Comparison 3. Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication

Cochrane

Librarv

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions.

Better health.

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Incidence of recurrent VTE	11		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 With extended follow-up after VKA cessation	9	3327	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.74 [0.54, 1.01]
1.2 Without extended follow-up af- ter VKA cessation	2	389	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.10 [0.04, 0.29]
2 Incidence of major bleeding	11	3716	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.60 [1.51, 4.49]
3 Mortality	9	3502	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.89 [0.66, 1.21]

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% Cl
3.1.1 With extended follow-up afte	er VKA cessation				
Agnelli 2001	21/134	21/133		13.49%	0.99[0.57,1.73]
Agnelli 2003	15/165	18/161	-+	11.7%	0.81[0.42,1.56]
Eischer 2009	7/17	2/17	++	4.1%	3.5[0.85,14.49]
Kearon 2004	3/81	5/84	+	4.21%	0.62[0.15,2.52]
Levine 1995	7/109	12/105	-+	8.16%	0.56[0.23,1.37]
Ridker 2003	14/255	37/253	-+	12.81%	0.38[0.21,0.68]
Pinede 2001	26/361	23/375	-+	13.75%	1.17[0.68,2.02]
Schulman 1995	43/454	80/443	-+-	18.03%	0.52[0.37,0.74]
Siragusa 2008	17/88	25/92	-+-	13.75%	0.71[0.41,1.22]
Subtotal (95% CI)	1664	1663	•	100%	0.74[0.54,1.01]
Total events: 153 (Long VKA), 223 (Sł	nort VKA)				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.11; Chi ² =17.3	4, df=8(P=0.03); l ² =53	.87%			
Test for overall effect: Z=1.9(P=0.06)					
		Favours long VKA	0.005 0.1 1 10 2	Favours short VKA	



Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		R	isk Rati	0		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Ra	andom,	95% CI		-	M-H, Random, 95% CI
			-						
3.1.2 Without extended follow-up	p after VKA cessation								
Kearon 1999	1/79	17/83		•	-			25.78%	0.06[0.01,0.45]
Schulman 1997	3/116	23/111			-			74.22%	0.12[0.04,0.4]
Subtotal (95% CI)	195	194		•				100%	0.1[0.04,0.29]
Total events: 4 (Long VKA), 40 (Sho	rt VKA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.37, o	df=1(P=0.55); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=4.38(P<0.0	0001)								
Test for subgroup differences: Chi ²	=13.05, df=1 (P=0), I ² =9	2.34%					1		
		Favours long VKA	0.005	0.1	1	10	200	Favours short VKA	

Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication, Outcome 2 Incidence of major bleeding.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ri	sk Ratio		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		М-Н, F	ixed, 95%	CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Agnelli 2001	4/134	2/133			+	-	11.49%	1.99[0.37,10.65]
Agnelli 2003	3/165	1/161		-	++		5.8%	2.93[0.31,27.85]
Eischer 2009	1/17	0/17					2.86%	3[0.13,68.84]
Kearon 1999	3/79	0/83					2.79%	7.35[0.39,140.05]
Kearon 2004	0/81	0/84						Not estimable
Levine 1995	1/109	0/105					2.92%	2.89[0.12,70.18]
Pinede 2001	10/361	6/375			- +		33.7%	1.73[0.64,4.71]
Ridker 2003	5/255	2/253			++-	_	11.5%	2.48[0.49,12.67]
Schulman 1995	5/454	1/443			+++		5.8%	4.88[0.57,41.59]
Schulman 1997	10/116	3/111			+-	-	17.55%	3.19[0.9,11.29]
Siragusa 2008	2/88	1/92			+		5.6%	2.09[0.19,22.65]
Total (95% CI)	1859	1857			•		100%	2.6[1.51,4.49]
Total events: 44 (Long VKA), 16 (Short	VKA)							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =1.7, df=9	(P=1); I ² =0%							
Test for overall effect: Z=3.43(P=0)								
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1 1	.0 1000	Favours short VKA	

Analysis 3.3. Comparison 3 Long vs short, entire period after randomization reported in publication, Outcome 3 Mortality.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Kearon 1999	1/79	3/83	+	3.48%	0.35[0.04,3.3]
Schulman 1997	10/116	16/111	-+-	19.45%	0.6[0.28,1.26]
Schulman 1995	17/454	22/443		26.48%	0.75[0.41,1.4]
Levine 1995	9/109	9/105		10.9%	0.96[0.4,2.33]
Ridker 2003	4/255	8/253		9.55%	0.5[0.15,1.63]
Agnelli 2001	7/133	7/134		8.29%	1.01[0.36,2.79]
Agnelli 2003	12/165	7/161	++	8.43%	1.67[0.68,4.14]
Kearon 2004	1/81	0/84	· · · · · · ·	0.58%	3.11[0.13,75.24]
		Favours long VKA	0.001 0.1 1 10	¹⁰⁰⁰ Favours short VKA	



Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Risk	Ratio	,		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fix	ed, 95	% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Pinede 2001	14/361	11/375		-	+-			12.83%	1.32[0.61,2.87]
Total (95% CI)	1753	1749		•	•			100%	0.89[0.66,1.21]
Total events: 75 (Long VKA), 83 (Sho	rt VKA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =6.5, df=	8(P=0.59); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=0.73(P=0.46	5)						1		
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	

Comparison 4. One month vs 3 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Incidence of recurrent VTE	2	379	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.18 [0.04, 0.79]

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 One month vs 3 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ris	k Ratio)		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fiz	ked, 95	% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Kearon 2004	1/81	2/84		+		_		17.64%	0.52[0.05,5.61]
Levine 1995	1/109	9/105		-	-			82.36%	0.11[0.01,0.83]
Total (95% CI)	190	189			-			100%	0.18[0.04,0.79]
Total events: 2 (Long VKA), 11 (Short V	'KA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =1.01, df=1(P=0.32); I ² =0.69%									
Test for overall effect: Z=2.27(P=0.02)									
		Favours long VKA	0.005	0.1	1	10	200	Favours short VKA	

Comparison 5. Three months vs 6 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Incidence of recurrent VTE	4	1113	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.10 [0.02, 0.43]

Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Three months vs 6 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Shot VKA		Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fi	ixed, 9	95% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Agnelli 2001	0/134	1/133		·+	-			7.61%	0.33[0.01,8.05]
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	



Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Shot VKA		Ris	k Ratio	D		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fi	xed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Agnelli 2003	0/75	1/70		+		_		7.84%	0.31[0.01,7.52]
Kearon 1999	0/79	10/83		-	-			51.77%	0.05[0,0.84]
Pinede 2001	0/269	6/270	_		+			32.79%	0.08[0,1.36]
Total (95% CI)	557	556						100%	0.1[0.02,0.43]
Total events: 0 (Long VKA), 18 (Shot	VKA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =1.29, d	f=3(P=0.73); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=3.09(P=0)									
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	

Comparison 6. Three months vs 12 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Incidence of recurrent VTE	3	610	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.18 [0.07, 0.45]

Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Three months vs 12 months, period from cessation of VKA in short arm until VKA cessation in long arm, Outcome 1 Incidence of recurrent VTE.

Study or subgroup	Long VKA	Short VKA		Ris	k Rati	0		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H, Fi	xed, 9	5% CI			M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Agnelli 2001	4/134	11/133			-			36.61%	0.36[0.12,1.11]
Agnelli 2003	1/90	5/91		+-	+			16.49%	0.2[0.02,1.7]
Kearon 1999	0/79	14/83		-	-			46.9%	0.04[0,0.6]
Total (95% CI)	303	307		•				100%	0.18[0.07,0.45]
Total events: 5 (Long VKA), 30 (Short	VKA)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =2.72, df	f=2(P=0.26); I ² =26.36%	1							
Test for overall effect: Z=3.7(P=0)									
		Favours long VKA	0.001	0.1	1	10	1000	Favours short VKA	

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. CENTRAL search strategy

#1	MeSH descriptor: [Thrombosis] this term only	1186
#2	MeSH descriptor: [Thromboembolism] this term only	999
#3	MeSH descriptor: [Venous Thromboembolism] this term only	294



(Continued)		
#4	MeSH descriptor: [Venous Thrombosis] explode all trees	2187
#5	(thromboprophyla* or thrombus* or thrombotic* or thrombolic* or throm- boemboli* or thrombos* or embol*):ti,ab,kw	11899
#6	MeSH descriptor: [Pulmonary Embolism] explode all trees	870
#7	PE or DVT or VTE:ti,ab,kw	2183
#8	((vein* or ven*) near thromb*):ti,ab,kw	5065
#9	#1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8	13607
#10	MeSH descriptor: [Anticoagulants] this term only	3378
#11	MeSH descriptor: [Coumarins] explode all trees	1553
#12	k near/3 antagon*	394
#13	VKA	58
#14	anticoagula*	6255
#15	anti-coagula*	166
#16	warfarin*	2237
#17	*coum*	866
#18	Jantoven or Marevan or Lawarin or Waran or Warfant or Dindevan	23
#19	phenindione	52
#20	Sinthrome or Sintrom	16
#21	Marcumar or Falithrom	16
#22	aldocumar or tedicumar	8
#23	#10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22	7863
#24	#9 and #23 in Trials	2318
#25	extend* or prolong*:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	24359
#26	duration:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	42645
#27	long*:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	73370
#28	continue:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	20076
#29	indefinite:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	62
#30	stop*:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	6919



(Continued)		
#31	short:ti,ab,kw (Word variations have been searched)	43468
#32	#25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31	162919
#33	#24 and #32 in Trials	854

FEEDBACK

Anticoagulant feedback, 14 February 2011

Summary

Feedback received on this review, and other reviews and protocols on anticoagulants, is available on the Cochrane Editorial Unit website at http://www.editorial-unit.cochrane.org/anticoagulants-feedback.

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
27 February 2014	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	New search run and review updated. Three additional studies in- cluded and seven additional studies excluded. All included stud- ies assessed for risk of bias. Text updated. Summary of findings table added. No change to conclusions
27 February 2014	New search has been performed	New search run. Three additional studies included and seven ad- ditional studies excluded

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 1, 1999 Review first published: Issue 3, 2000

Date	Event	Description
14 February 2011	Amended	Link to anticoagulant feedback added
6 March 2009	Amended	Converted to new review format.
14 October 2005	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

SM: selected trials for inclusion; assessed methodological quality of trials; extracted data; wrote text. MP: selected trials for inclusion; assessed methodological quality of trials; extracted data; checked the content of the review. BH: selected trials for inclusion; assessed methodological quality of trials; extracted data; wrote text.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

SM: Dr Middeldorp's institution has received funding for consultancy at advisory meetings regarding the usefulness of NOACs for the indication of VTE treatment from Bayer, BMS/Pfizer, Boehringer Ingelheim and Daiichi Sankyo; for research grants from GSK for a trial of LMWH to prevent recurrent VTE in pregnant patients, from BMS/Pfizer and Sanquin for studying the effect of prothrombin complex



concentrate to reverse the anticoagulant effect of NOACs in healthy volunteers and from Bayer for supporting visiting fellows; for payment for lectures on VTE from Bayer, BMS/Pfizer, Boehringer Ingelheim and Daiichi Sankyo; for payment for development of educational presentations from Bayer and GSK, the companies did not influence content of educational material. MP: Prof Prins' institution has received a grant from ZON-MW (not-for-profit organisation) for demonstrating cost-effectiveness on the topic of this review. Prof Prins' institution has received funding for his hoard membership of clinical studies and consultancy from Bayer.

topic of this review. Prof Prins' institution has received funding for his board membership of clinical studies and consultancy from Bayer, Boeringer Ingelheim, Daiichi Sankyo, Pfizer and ISIS Pharmaceuticals. These were not related to this review. BH: None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

Department of Clinical Epidemiology & Biostatistics, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands.

External sources

- National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), UK.
- The PVD Group editorial base is supported by a programme grant form the NIHR.
- Chief Scientist Office, Scottish Government Health Directorate, The Scottish Government, UK.

The PVD group editorial base is supported by the Chief Scientist Office.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

In the previous published version, the quality of the trials was investigated using the methods of Jadad (Jadad 1996) and Schulz (Schultz 1995). In keeping with updated requirements of The Cochrane Collaboration, the quality of all included studies has now been assessed by using the risk of bias tool as described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011), and all data were analyzed by using Review Manager (RevMan 2012).

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Anticoagulants [*administration & dosage] [adverse effects]; Drug Administration Schedule; Hemorrhage [chemically induced]; International Normalized Ratio; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Secondary Prevention; Thromboembolism [*prevention & control]; Time Factors; Venous Thrombosis [*prevention & control]; Vitamin K [*antagonists & inhibitors]

MeSH check words

Humans